RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-03-2017 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2016AP002172

COUNTY OF DODGE,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ALEXIS N. UNSER,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DODGE COUNTY, BRANCH III, THE HONORABLE JOSEPH G. SCIASCIA, PRESIDING

Respectfully submitted,

ALEXIS N. UNSER Defendant-Appellant

CHIRAFISI & VERHOFF, S.C. Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant 1 South Pinckney Street, Suite 952 Madison, Wisconsin 53703 (608) 250-3500

BY: COREY CHIRAFISI State Bar No. 1032422

ISSUE PRESENTED

Is moving a defendant a distance of between five and six plus miles from the location of the stop to perform field sobriety tests "within the vicinity" under Wis. Stat. §968.24?

Trial Court answered: YES

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Defendant-Appellant understands that pursuant to Wis. Stat. §809.23(1)(b)4 the decision is not to be published.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Defendant-Appellant does not request oral argument of the issue presented in this case, but stands ready to do so if this Court believes that oral argument would be useful in the exposition of the legal arguments presented herein.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On January 9, 2016 at approximately 9:25 p.m., Joseph Nicholas was working and on duty as a Sergeant with the Dodge County Sheriff's Department. (12:5).

Sgt. Nicholas was in a marked squad car traveling southbound on U.S. Highway 151 in the Town of Trenton, Dodge County, Wisconsin. (12:5) Highway 151 is a major thoroughfare through Dodge County. (12:27-28).

Sgt. Nicholas stopped a vehicle driven by the defendant-appellant, Alexis Unser, for speeding, traveling 68 miles per hour in a 65 mile per hour zone. (12:6) Sgt. Nicholas believed that based on the weather conditions, traveling between 40-50 miles per hour was a safe speed. (12:10).

The weather conditions that evening consisted of ice and snow covered roads with blowing snow. (12:9) Even with those conditions, multiple cars were traveling on that roadway. (12:28) The traffic stop took place on 151 right at or near Highway C. (12:13)

The parties agree that there was a basis for the stop and that reasonable suspicion existed to request Ms. Unser to perform standardized field sobriety tests. (12:11)

Sgt. Nicholas did not believe the location was suitable for field sobriety testing as the road was snow covered and icy, the wind was blowing and the defendant was wearing a short dress and had a thin coat on. (12:12-13) Sgt.

Nicholas did not feel that it was beneficial to perform field sobriety tests given the roadway and the defendant's attire. (12:12-13)

Initially, Sgt. Nicholas was going to move the defendant from her location to the Waupun Police Department because they have a heated garage space. That location changed as the department was too busy to assist. (12:13) Sgt. Nicholas then made a decision to transport Ms. Unser to Waupun Memorial Hospital. (12:13-14) Sgt. Nicholas believed that would be the closest location to go. (12:17) There were no towns west of the stop. (12:18) The Horicon Marsh is east of the location. (12:18) Sgt. Nicholas was closer to Waupun and that was why he chose that route. (12:18)

Sgt. Nicholas agreed that there were at two locations that were closer than Waupun Hospital. Specifically, a Wal-Mart Distribution Center which was approximately 4 ¹/₂ miles from the stop, which was open 24/7 (12:30, 31) and a tavern, directly west of the stop. (12;30, 32) Sgt. Nicholas did not bother checking either one of those two locations to ascertain whether or not field sobriety tests could be conducted there. (12:32, 34-35) Sgt. Nicholas did not recall whether or not the tavern was open. (12:32)

Sgt. Nicholas transported Ms. Unser north on U.S. Highway 151 to County Road M to County Road MM and then into the city, which he believed was Beaver Dam Street. (12:14) Based on Sgt. Nicholas' odometer, the distance was six miles. Sgt. Nicholas acknowledged the mileage was not to the tenth, so it could

have been a little more or a little less. (12:20) The driving time was calculated to be eight minutes and 12 seconds. (12:27)

On or about March 29, 2016, Ms. Unser filed a Motion To Suppress Violation of Wis. Stat. §968.24. The motion was heard by the Honorable Joseph Sciascia on April 28, 2016. The motion was denied by written Memorandum on June 27, 2016.

The Court found that the five plus to six plus mile transport of Ms. Unser to perform field sobriety tests was within the vicinity of the stop for purposes of Wis. Stat. §968.24.

On September 13, 2016 a trial to the Court was held. The Court found the defendant guilty of Operating While Intoxicated First Offense. The companion prohibited alcohol concentration charge in Dodge County Case Number 16 TR 976 was dismissed. The Court imposed penalties including a fine and costs totaling \$811.50, \$40.00 blood draw surcharge, six month driver's license revocation, alcohol assessment and a victim impact panel. The defendant filed her Notice of Appeal on November 3, 2016. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. TRANSPORTING THE DEFENDANT BETWEEN FIVE AND SIX PLUS MILES TO PERFORM STANDARDIZED FIELD SOBRIETY TESTS WAS NOT WITHIN THE "VICINITY" UNDER WIS. STAT. §968.24

A temporary detention of a person following a traffic stop constitutes a seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment and implicates the constitutional protections against unreasonable searches and seizures. A police officer may temporarily detain a person, under proper circumstances, for the purpose of investigating possible criminal activity in the absence of probable cause to arrest. *See Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 22, 88 S.Ct. 1868 (1968).

Wis. Stat. §968.24 provides:

After having identified himself or herself as a law enforcement officer, a law enforcement officer may stop a person in a public place for a reasonable period of time when the officer reasonably suspects that such person is committing, is about to commit or has committed a crime, and may demand the name and address of the person and an explanation of the person's conduct. Such detention and temporary questioning shall be conducted in the vicinity where the person was stopped.

The police may, where there are reasonable grounds for doing so, "move a suspect in the general vicinity of the stop without converting what would otherwise by a temporary seizure into an arrest." *State v. Quartana*, 213 Wis.2d 440, 570 N.W.2d 618 (Ct. App. 1997). When a person is temporarily detained and moved from one location to another, courts conduct a two part inquiry: (1) was the person moved within the "vicinity," and (2) was the purpose in moving the person reasonable. *Id.* at 446.

What distance is considered within the "vicinity"? We know 10 miles is not. *State v. Blatterman*, 2015 Wis.2d 46, 362 Wis.2d 138 (2015). Eight miles isn't either. *In re Burton*, 2009 WI App 158, 321 Wis.2d 750 (Ct. App. 2009) (unpublished).

One mile clearly is within the vicinity, *see Quartana*, and three to four miles is at the outer limits of "vicinity." *State v. Doyle*, 2011 WI App. 143, 337 Wis.2d 557 (Ct. App. 2011) (unpublished but citable pursuant to Wis. State (Rule) §809.23(3)); *County of Fond du Lac v. Ramthun*, 2016 WL 6271739 (Ct. App. 2016) (unpublished) (three to four mile transport to conduct field sobriety test was reasonable).

So, how about five to six plus miles? Ms. Unser relies on the reasoning and rational of the Court in *Doyle* in part due to the striking similarity in facts. It is Ms. Unser's position that if three to four miles is at the outer limits, then at least five miles to six plus miles under almost identical facts and circumstances, is just plain out.

The Circuit Court found that "the inclement weather and the rural nature of the location of the initial stop are important circumstances which bear on the issue of whether the move to the hospital was within the vicinity." (16:2) However, the weather Sgt. Nicholas and Ms. Unser faced was no more "inclement" than the weather presented in *Doyle*.

Doyle actually involved a one-vehicle accident during the early evening hours. The weather was snowing and sleeting heavily at the time with winds of 20

to 25 miles per hour. It was very cold and the roads were snow and ice covered and "extremely slippery." That sounds very similar to the weather conditions Sgt. Nicholas was dealing with. It was also a factor the Court of Appeals considered:

The detention occurred in the middle of a snow storm rendering the roads and roadside unsafe to conduct the field sobriety tests. It was cold and very windy; the deputy testified the winds were blowing approximately twenty to twenty-five miles per hour. It would have been unreasonable to conduct the field sobriety tests on the roadside under these extreme conditions.

Id. at ¶15. With the weather conditions clearly in mind, the Court still found three to four miles at the outer limits of the definition of "vicinity."

The Trial Court also considered the rural nature of the location of the stop in determining that five to six miles was within the vicinity. The Court found that the nature of the area of the stop is of the most important fact in determining whether a move is within the vicinity. (16:3)

It is the defendant's position that when comparing the rural nature of the location as well as the possible alternatives available to law enforcement, the five plus to six plus mile distance traveled for field sobriety tests cannot be considered within the vicinity.

The single vehicle accident in *Doyle* occurred in the town of Exeter. There is no indication as to the type of road or if it was frequently traveled by motorists. Here, the stop occurred on Highway 151, a major thoroughfare through Dodge County, (12:27-28) and even with the weather conditions as they were, multiple cars were traveling on that roadway. (12:28)

Sgt. Nicholas testified there were no towns west of the stop (12:18), the Horicon Marsh is east (12:18), and he headed north to Waupun because that was closer than Beaver Dam. (12:18)

Sgt. Nicholas failed to investigate two (2) locations that were closer than Waupun Hospital. First, at almost the exact location of the stop was a tavern. (12:32). Sgt. Nicholas did not recall whether the tavern was open (12:32), even though it was 9:39 p.m. (12:32)

There was also a Wal-Mart Distribution Center, which was closed to the public at that time but is open 24/7 (12:30-31), located on that exact roadway somewhere between ½ mile and 1 ½ miles closer. (12:30) Sgt. Nicholas did not bother to ask anyone at the Wal-Mart Distribution Center if he could try field sobriety tests there. (12:34-35)

Unlike *Doyle* where the only closer location was a gas station with a large overhang located less than one minute from the location the defendant was taken. *Id.* at ¶13. Sgt. Nicholas had two locations which were substantially closer. However, he never bothered to check if either location was appropriate for field sobriety tests. The government argued that "a transport going from rural to city, nothing in between that would provide sufficient shelter and other closer buildings (a tavern and a distribution center) would not provide sufficient shelter." (14:6) That is an impossible argument to make. Sgt. Nicholas' unwillingness to check those locations leaves that question regarding adequate shelter unanswerable.

Also, it is reasonable that if Sgt. Nicholas would have checked on the availability of those locations, presumably he would have done the testing indoors since that would be the only logical reason to request permission in the first place.

Further, Sgt. Nicholas moved the defendant a "little less or a little more" than six miles. (12:20) Depending on the actual distance, that is somewhere between one plus miles and three miles further than *Doyle*. It is possible the distance more than doubled (3 miles vs. 6 plus miles) and at a minimum at least 1 plus miles further (4 miles vs. a little less than 6).

If three to four miles is really "at the outer limits of the definition of vicinity" considering both the weather conditions as well as the rural locality of the stop, what is five to six miles under virtually identical facts, with the caveat that at least two possible closer locations were known by law enforcement and ignored?

If an exception to §968.24 is made for stops made in rural areas in Wisconsin, then the exception swallows the statute. Many areas of Wisconsin would be considered rural with large amounts of farmland and the weather in Wisconsin, to put it kindly, is unpredictable. It would seem that if the rural location as well as the weather conditions are more appropriately applied to the second factor, was the purpose of moving the person reasonable?

There has to be some limitation on the definition of vicinity for purposes of Wis. Stat. §968.24. The Court of Appeals has provided guidance regarding what "vicinity" means for purposes of the statute. If under virtually identical

circumstances three to four miles is at the outer limits of how far a suspect can be moved under the statute, it would stand to reason that an additional 1 to 3 miles has breached the outer limits and must be considered outside the vicinity for purposes of §968.24.

CONCLUSION

Sgt. Nicholas' decision to move Ms. Unser somewhere between five and six plus miles to perform field sobriety tests cannot be considered within the vicinity as that is defined under Wis. Stat. §968.24. For the reasons stated in this brief, the judgment of the Trial Court should be reversed, and this action be remanded to that Court, with directions to grant the defendant's motion to suppress.