# **RECEIVED**

02-06-2017

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV Case No. 2016AP002172

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COUNTY OF DODGE,
Plaintiff-Respondent, vs.
ALEXIS N. UNSER
Defendant-Appellant.
ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DODGE COUNTY, BRANCH 3, THE HONORABLE JOSEPH G. SCIASCIA, PRESIDING
BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

GILBERT G. THOMPSON State Bar #01013424 Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

DODGE COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY Dodge County Justice Facility 210 W. Center Street, 3<sup>rd</sup> Floor Juneau, WI 53039 (920) 386-3610

# **

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV Case No. 2016AP002172

COUNTY O	F DODGE,
vs.	Plaintiff-Respondent,
ALEXIS N.	UNSER,
	Defendant-Appellant.
	AL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DODGE COUNTY, BRANCH 3, THE HONORABLE JOSEPH G. SCIASCIA, PRESIDING
	BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT
	<del></del>

### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not required because it will not assist the court. Publication is not requested.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

- 1. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT THE TRANSPORT OF ALEXIS N. UNSER WAS LAWFUL.
- A. The transport of Alexis N. Unser was not a compelled transport subject to the vicinity restriction found in Wis. Stats. Section 968.24.

Alexis N. Unser argues that Sgt. Nicholas's transport of her person from the scene of the traffic stop on U. S. Highway 151 to the Waupun Memorial Hospital for field sobriety testing violated the vicinity restriction found in Wis. Stats. Section 968.24 which states that a detention and temporary questioning of a

suspect must be conducted "in the vicinity where the person was stopped." Sgt. Nicholas did, however, comply with that requirement.

Alexis N. Unser's motor vehicle was lawfully stopped on U.S. Highway 151 by Sgt Nicholas for a speeding violation. (12:5,6) Sgt. Nicholas then detained Unser and questioned her. Unser admitted that she had consumed intoxicants. (12:12) During this interaction Sgt. Nicholas smelled a moderate odor of intoxicants coming from Unser's vehicle and observed that Unser had glossy eyes. (12:11,12) The parties stipulated on the record that based upon this initial interaction with Unser that Sgt. Nicholas had lawful authority to request that Unser perform field sobriety tests. (12:11)

Therefore, the requirements of Wis. Stats. Section 968.24 were met, i.e., the detention and the temporary questioning of Unser occurred at the exact location where Unser was stopped. Sgt. Nicholas, based upon that brief detention and temporary questioning, had lawful authority to request Unser to perform field sobriety tests. Sgt. Nicholas was prepared to administer those tests at the scene of the traffic stop despite the terrible weather conditions (ice and snow covered roads, cold temperatures and blowing wind/snow). (12:9,12). Sgt. Nicholas testified that he was willing to "try to do field sobriety tests the best that I could given those circumstances of the weather." (12:17)

Unser, however, was not dressed for the weather; she wore a short dress and only had a thin coat. (12:12) Sgt. Nicholas, therefore, asked Unser if she would be willing to go to a safer environment to perform the field sobriety tests and she agreed. (12:16, 17) The Court watched a squad car video of this interaction (Exhibit 1) at the April 28, 2016 motion hearing. (12:8) Sgt. Nicholas testified that Unser was willing to travel with him to a warmer environment (Unser said that "she was fine with that"). (12:17) The Trial Court found that Unser "acquiesced to the transport." (16:1) Sgt. Nicholas then drove Unser a distance between five and six miles to a warm, safe environment where field sobriety tests were performed. (12:20) The trip lasted eight minutes and twelve seconds. (12:27)

Unser asserts in her brief that this five to six mile trip was subject to the two part inquiry set forth in *State v. Quartana*, 213 Wis.2d 440, 570 N.W.2d 618 (Ct. App., 1997). *Quartana*, however, involved the compelled transport of a suspect, not an attempt to get out of a dangerous environment. In *Quartana* the defendant drove his vehicle into a ditch (the crime scene) and then walked one mile to his parents' home. A State Trooper investigating the crash learned of Quartana's identity and sent a Brookfield Police Officer to the house to retrieve Quartana. The Brookfield Officer took Quartana into custody and told him that he "would have to return to the accident scene to talk with the trooper investigating the accident." Id at 444.

Quartana specifically asked if he could go to the accident scene with his parents. The Brookfield Officer, who still had Quartana's driver's license, told Quartana that he had no choice – Quartana was compelled to go with the officer to the crime scene. Quartana argued that he was at that point under arrest – he was taken against his will from his parents' home to a crime scene. The Court of Appeals ruled that such a transport (about one mile) was lawful under Wis. Stats. Section. 968.24 as it occurred within the vicinity of the stop.

The facts of Quartana can easily be distinguished from the Unser fact pattern. Quartana was transported by the police "in order to continue their investigation." Id at 448. In our case, Unser was lawfully stopped -- she was already at the scene of the offense. There was no need to transport Unser anywhere. Sgt. Nicholas testified that if Unser refused to go to a warm/dry/safe environment that he would "have to either make a decision based on that or try to do field sobriety tests the best that I could given those circumstances of the weather." (12:17)

The key distinction is this: *Quartana* involved the compelled transport of a person to a crime scene in order for the police to continue their investigation. Our case (Unser) is an agreement by the involved parties to suspend the investigation so that a consensual transport to a safer environment can occur. Unser is simply a case of two people having the common sense to get out of the cold/snow/wind. It is not a 4<sup>th</sup> Amendment event. Therefore, no *Quartana* two part analysis is needed.

Unser also cited another compelled transport case, *State v. Blatterman*, 2015 WI 476, 362 Wis.2d 138, 864 N.W.2d 26. In *Blatterman* the police conducted a high-risk stop as Blatterman had earlier mentioned suicide by cop. Three police squad cars were involved in the stop. Blatterman was forcibly taken to the ground where he was handcuffed and searched for weapons. When Blatterman complained that his chest hurt the officers requested that emergency medical services (EMS) respond to the scene. The EMS arrived and Blatterman refused their services. The police officer then decided that Blatterman "should get checked out at the hospital" so the officer transported Blatterman ten miles to the hospital. Id at paragraph 9.

The Supreme Court of Wisconsin ruled that the 10 mile transport was lawful as the officer acted under the community caretaker doctrine. The Supreme Court also performed a *Quartana* analysis on these facts, i.e., was the police compelled transport of ten miles still within the vicinity of the stop? The Supreme Court said no but refused to determine the "precise outer limits" of vicinity. Id at paragraph 26.

Like *Quartana*, *Blatterman* involved the compelled transport of a suspect to a different location: in *Quartana*, the suspect was taken from his parents' home to the scene of crash/crime scene whereas in *Blatterman* the suspect was taken from the scene of a traffic stop to a hospital to receive medical treatment. Neither case involved two people mutually agreeing to remove themselves from a dangerous environment to a safer, warmer environment.

By consenting to the transport Unser waived any argument that a Section 968.24 violation occurred. Sgt. Nicholas asked Unser if she would agree to performing the tests in a nearby city in a setting where they would be out of danger (snow storm, blowing wind, cold temperatures, cars passing them on ice and snow covered roads, etc.). Unser understood the need for a dry, warm, safe environment and agreed to be transported to same.

Therefore, whether the trip from the scene of the traffic stop to the Waupun Hospital was 5 miles or 15 miles is irrelevant. Unser consented to be transported. This fact pattern is no different than if Unser's vehicle was stopped on a beautiful sunny day in a safe setting perfect for field sobriety testing and Unser, as the officer was explaining the field sobriety test, realized that she had to urinate and requested that the officer transport her to the nearest public bathroom. If the officer agreed and transported Unser five to six miles to the Waupun Memorial Hospital (where Unser used the bathroom before then performing field sobriety tests) the Court would not consider said consensual transport to be a violation of Wis. Stats. Section 968.24.

Both of these fact patterns comply with Wis. Stats. Section 968.24 – the detention and temporary questioning were conducted at the scene of the stop. After the officer lawfully determined that field sobriety tests would be administered, however, the parties agreed to move to a different location due to a force of nature – in the first instance, Sgt. Nicholas cannot stop the snow/wind/cold, and in the second, Unser cannot stop the need to urinate. Both parties agree to move to a different location – they would be more comfortable at the other setting. The mere act of transporting, when Unser consented to the transport, cannot be a violation of Wis. Stats. Section 968.24.

B. If the transport of Alexis N. Unser was subject to the vicinity restriction contained in Wis. Stats. Section 968.24 then the Trial Court correctly ruled that said transport was within the vicinity.

The traffic stop occurred at night (9:25 p.m.) in the Town of Trenton, Dodge County, Wisconsin. (12:5) The Trial Court received into evidence as Exhibit 3 at

the April 28, 2016 motion hearing an overhead photograph (10:1) showing the exact location of the traffic stop. (12:17,19)

Sgt. Nicholas testified as to the area surrounding the location of the traffic stop.-to the west was an area that was "pretty much cornfields" and "farms" and to the
east was the Horicon Marsh. (12:18) That left Sgt. Nicholas with Beaver Dam to
the south and Waupun to the north. (12:18) Knowing he was closer to Waupun,
Sgt. Nicholas headed north. (12:18)

The Trial Court indicated on the record its familiarity with this area: ("I have been to Waupun a million times, and maybe half a million. I know what Highway M is like. I know what 151 is like." (12:23,24) The Trial Court stated that "the Waupun Hospital is probably the closest place to go. Because the Beaver Dam Hospital is on the southeast side of Beaver Dam. And so there is really – to me, there is no feasible place of stopping closer than the Waupun Hospital. Any objection to that finding. It's basically cornfields." (12:24)

Unser argues in her brief that Sgt. Nicholas should have considered taking her to a tavern or a WalMart Distribution Center. The Trial Court, in its Memorandum Decision on Motion to Suppress (16:1-4), rejected this argument, finding that both locations were private properties not suitable for this purpose. The Trial Court ruled that a tavern is "not viable" due to possible interference from tavern patrons as well as a possible delay resulting from the tavern owner refusing to allow the testing to occur. (16:2) The WalMart Distribution Center also presented the possibility of delay given the need to find a person authorized to consent to the police bringing a suspect into their facility. (16:2). The Trial Court also noted that the distance between the WalMart Distribution Center and the Waupun Hospital was "de-minimus for purpose of this issue." (16:2)

In ruling that the five to six mile transport was within the vicinity of the stop the Trial Court noted that the definition of vicinity "can vary depending on the circumstances of the case" and that rural Dodge County does not offer many options for field sobriety testing during inclement weather. (16:2,3)

Sgt. Nicholas selected the correct destination for a safe environment in which to perform field sobriety tests. A quick glance at the overhead photograph (10:1) will confirm his decision. He drove a distance of between five and six miles, travelling from a rural area to the nearest municipality. Given these circumstances the Trial Court correctly ruled that the transport occurred "within the vicinity of the stop for purposes of Section 968.24, Wis. Stats." (16:3)

## **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, the Trial Court's decision that the transport of Alexis N. Unser was lawful should be affirmed.